Case No. 70475

In the Supreme Court of Nevada

DITECH FINANCIAL LLC, f/k/a GREEN TREE SERVICING, LLC,

Appellant,

vs.

SANFORD BUCKLES, on behalf of himself and others similarly situated,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Sep 26 2016 02:59 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

CERTIFIED QUESTION

from the United States District Court, District of Nevada District Court Case No. 2:15-cv-01581-GMN-CWH

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Daniel F. Polsenberg (SBN 2376)
Joel D. Henriod (SBN 8492)
Lewis Roca Rothgerber Christie Llp
3993 Howard Hughes Parkway,
Suite 600
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169
(702) 949-8200
DPolsenberg@LRRC.com
JHenriod@LRRC.com

ELIZABETH A. HAMRICK (SBN 9414)

INTRODUCTION

This case presents issues of Nevada law certified by the United States District Court for the District of Nevada (Navarro, C.J.) and accepted for review by this Court pursuant to NRAP 5. The certified questions are:

Plaintiff's position: Does NRS 200.620 apply to telephone recordings made by a party outside Nevada, who regularly records telephone conversations with Nevada residents, of telephone conversations with a person in Nevada without that person's consent?

Defendant's position: Does NRS 200.620 apply to telephone recordings made by a party outside Nevada who uses equipment outside Nevada to record telephone conversations with a person in Nevada without that person's consent? If so, does that decision apply retroactively, or prospectively only?

The case arises from customer service calls recorded outside

Nevada by Defendant Ditech Financial LLC ("Ditech"). Ditech is a

lender and servicer of residential mortgages, and it operates call centers
in Arizona and Minnesota. Plaintiff Sanford Buckles alleges that

(1) while he was in Nevada, he spoke with Ditech representatives located in Ditech's call centers about a mortgage loan, and (2) Ditech recorded these telephone conversations, without his consent, using equipment located in the Arizona or Minnesota call centers. Buckles claims Ditech violated NRS 200.620 by recording these calls. Buckles seeks to assert this claim on behalf of himself and a putative class of individuals who were also located in Nevada when they spoke with Ditech representatives via telephone and whose telephone calls were also recorded without their consent, using equipment located in Ditech's Arizona or Minnesota call centers. For himself and the putative class, Plaintiff seeks statutory damages of \$100 per day (but not less than \$1,000 per class member) for all calls recorded by Ditech without consent over the past three years, as well as punitive damages.

Plaintiff's claim turns on whether NRS 200.620—the Nevada penal statute governing telephone recordings—can be applied extraterritorially to routine business practices that are lawful in the state where the practices occurred. Nevada is one of approximately twelve states that require all parties to a telephone call to consent to the recording of a call. By contrast, federal law and the laws of the vast

majority of states permit a recording whenever one party to the call consents. Of particular importance to this case, the laws of Arizona and Minnesota (where Ditech's call centers and recording equipment are located) are among the majority that permit a recording whenever one party to the call consents. Plaintiff thus bases his claim on a novel extension of Nevada's penal law to conduct that occurs outside Nevada and that was legal in the state where the conduct occurred. This Court rejected this theory in *Mclellan v. State*, 124 Nev. 263, 182 P.3d 106 (2008), concluding NRS 200.620 does not apply to a call with a Nevada resident that was legally recorded outside of Nevada. *Id.* at 267-68.

The plain language of Nevada's call-recording statutes, this Court's previous understanding of the limited reach of NRS 200.620 in *Mclellan*, and sound principles of statutory construction all foreclose Plaintiff's claim.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Buckles, the husband of a borrower whose loan is serviced by Ditech, filed a putative class action in federal court against Ditech, claiming it violated NRS 200.620 by recording telephone conversations with him and other persons in Nevada in the course of servicing loans.

(App. 2, (Am. Compl. at ¶1, *Buckles v. Green Tree Servicing, LLC*, No. 2:15-cv-01581-GMN (D. Nev. Nov. 7, 2015), ECF No. 13.)) Buckles has defined the class to include "All persons in Nevada whose inbound and outbound telephone conversations were monitored, recorded, and/or eavesdropped upon without their consent by [Ditech] within three years prior to the filing of the original Complaint in this action." *Id.* ¶ 39.

Ditech moved to dismiss the complaint, arguing (1) NRS 200.620 does not govern telephone calls recorded by persons outside Nevada on equipment located outside of Nevada, and (2) the United States Constitution precludes extraterritorial application of NRS 200.620 to telephone recordings made outside of Nevada. *Id.*, (App. 20, 24, (Def. Ditech Financial LLC's Mot. to Dismiss Am. Compl. at 6, 10, *Buckles v. Green Tree Servicing, LLC*, No. 2:15-cv-01581-GMN (D. Nev. Nov. 25, 2015), ECF No. 14)).

The federal district court (Navarro, C.J.) concluded Ditech's motion to dismiss should be granted if NRS 200.620 applies only to recordings made within Nevada. *Id.*, (App. 71, (Certification Order to the Nevada Supreme Court at 6, *Buckles v. Green Tree Servicing, LLC*, No. 2:15-cv-01581-GMN (D. Nev. May 25, 2016), ECF No. 40 (hereafter

"ECF No. 40")). "If the statute applies to telephone recordings made outside Nevada by Ditech, however," the federal court "must decide Ditech's constitutional challenge to the statute under the Due Process Clause and the Dormant Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution." *Id.* "The necessity of reaching these serious constitutional questions depends upon resolution of prior, potentially dispositive, questions of Nevada statutory law." *Id.* The federal court therefore certified the state law questions presented to this Court. *Id.*, (App. 71-72, (at 6–7)).

This Court accepted the certified questions because "the answers may determine the federal case." Order Accepting Certified Questions, Directing Briefing and Directing Submission of Filing Fee at 1.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Ditech is a lender and servicer of residential mortgage loans secured by properties located in states across the country. Like many companies, Ditech has customer call centers equipped to record telephone calls for purposes of customer service training and quality review. Those call centers are located in Arizona and Minnesota. The

company does not have any customer service operations or telephone recording equipment in Nevada. (App. 69-70, (ECF No. 40 at 4–5)).

Buckles resides in Nevada. He alleges that, in 2013 and 2014, while he was in Nevada, he had "at least five (5) telephone communications" with Ditech representatives located in Ditech's call centers about a mortgage loan on his home and that Ditech recorded these telephone conversations, without his consent. (App. 6, (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 17-19, ECF No. 13)).

RELEVANT NEVADA STATUTES

NRS 200.620(1) outlaws certain unauthorized "interception" of telephone calls. It provides, in relevant part:

Except as otherwise provided in NRS 179.410 to 179.515, inclusive, 209.419 and 704.195, it is unlawful for any person to intercept or attempt to intercept any wire communication unless:

(a) The interception or attempted interception is made with the prior consent of one of the parties to the communication; and

(b) An emergency situation exists and it is impractical to obtain a court order as required by NRS 179.410 to 179.515, inclusive, before the interception

NRS 200.620(1). This Court, in a case involving parties in Nevada using equipment located in Nevada, construed NRS 200.620 as prohibiting the recording of private phone calls without the consent of all parties to the call, subject to certain exceptions. See Lane v. Allstate Ins. Co., 114 Nev. 1176, 1179–80, 969 P.2d 938, 940 (1998) (plurality).

The statutes define certain terms as follows:

1. "Person" includes public officials and law enforcement officers of the State and of a county or municipality or other political subdivision of the State.

¹ The exceptions in NRS 179.410 to NRS 179.515, NRS 209.419, and NRS 704.195 relate to interception authorized by a judge or justice when requested by the attorney general or district attorney for investigations by law enforcement agencies, interception of offenders' communications in jails or prisons, and interception by public utilities concerning emergency or service outage. NRS 179.460, for instance, permits the "Attorney General or the district attorney of any county [to] apply to a Supreme Court justice or to a district judge in the county where the interception is to take place for an order authorizing the interception of wire, electronic or oral communications." If granted, the court may issue an order authorizing the interception by "investigative or law enforcement officers." *Id*.

2. "Wire communication" means the transmission of writing, signs, signals, pictures and sounds of all kind by wire, cable, or other similar connection between the points of origin and reception of such transmission, including all facilities and services incidental to such transmission, which facilities and services include, among other things, the receipt, forwarding and delivering of communications.

NRS 200.610.

"Intercept" means the aural acquisition of the contents of any wire, electronic or oral communication through the use of any electronic, mechanical or other device or of any sending or receiving equipment.

NRS 179.430.

"Investigative or law enforcement officer" means any officer of the United States or this State or a political subdivision thereof who is empowered by the law of this state to conduct investigations of or to make arrests for felonies, and any attorney authorized by law to prosecute or participate in the prosecution of such offenses.

NRS 179.435.

NRS 200.620 is a criminal statute. "A person who willfully and knowingly violates NRS 200.620 . . . : Shall be punished for a category D felony as provided in NRS 193.130." NRS 200.690(1)(a). It also carries quasi-criminal penalties and punitive damages. A civil defendant found "liable to a person whose wire or oral communication is intercepted without his or her consent" is subject to:

- (1) Actual damages or liquidated damages of \$100 per day of violation but not less than \$1,000, whichever is greater;
- (2) Punitive damages; and
- (3) His or her costs reasonably incurred in the action, including a reasonable attorney's fee,

all of which may be recovered by civil action.

NRS 200.690(1)(b).

Unlawfully intercepted calls may not be used as evidence in Nevada courts as provided in NRS 179.500 and 179.505. NRS 179.500 provides that "the contents of any intercepted wire, electronic or oral communication or evidence derived therefrom must not be received in

evidence or otherwise disclosed in any trial, hearing or other proceeding in any court of this state unless each party, not less than 10 days before the trial, hearing or proceeding, has been furnished with a copy of the court order and accompanying application under which the interception was authorized and a transcript of any communication intercepted."

Any aggrieved person may move to suppress the contents of an unlawfully intercepted communication under NRS 179.505.

The evidentiary rule is qualified by NRS 48.077, which provides that "the contents of any communication lawfully intercepted under the laws of the United States or of another jurisdiction . . . if the interception took place within that jurisdiction, and any evidence derived from such a communication, are admissible in any action or proceeding in a court or before an administrative body of this State" NRS 48.077 (emphasis added).

The full text of all relevant statutes appears in the NRAP 28(f) addendum.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

NRS 200.620 does not extend to the recording of interstate calls when the act of "interception" takes place outside Nevada. This

construction is compelled by *Mclellan v. State*, 124 Nev. 263, 182 P.3d 106 (2008), and necessarily follows from the well-established presumption against extraterritoriality, as well as the rule of lenity and the canon of constitutional avoidance. Under each of these well-settled doctrines, the absence of any explicit indication that NRS § 200.620 was intended to operate beyond Nevada's borders forecloses Plaintiff's claim.

Plaintiff points to nothing indicating the legislature intended to project Nevada law onto conduct of parties in other States. Neither the text of the statute nor its legislative history supports the notion the legislature meant to establish a rule of conduct that would govern outside Nevada. To the contrary, other provisions of Nevada's call-recording law, which must be read together with section 200.620, confirm the legislature intended the statute to extend only to "interceptions" inside Nevada's borders—including, most notably, the provision contemplating that prior approval or ratification of a recording could be obtained from "a district judge in the *county where the interception is to take place.*" NRS 179.460(1) (emphasis added).

Further support is found in the Nevada evidence code provision at issue in *Mclellan*, which makes taped conversations admissible in

Nevada if the act of recording was lawful in the jurisdiction where the recording took place. That statute reflects both the legislature's awareness of the cross-border conflicts arising from Nevada's unusually restrictive call-recording law and its conscious decision to accommodate the less-restrictive laws and policies of sister states. Plaintiff's proposed construction, by contrast, would lead to the incongruent result that an interstate phone call with a person in Nevada can be taped and lawfully used as evidence, but the out-of-state party who recorded the call (including out-of-state law enforcement officials) would be subject to criminal punishment and statutory penalties in a Nevada court. There is not a shred of evidence the legislature intended such a startling and aberrant result.

Other Nevada statutes contain specific extraterritoriality language, which confirms the legislature is aware of the background presumptions of extraterritoriality and lenity and knows how to project a Nevada penal statute to nonresidents when that is the legislature's intent. The Nevada Deceptive Trade Practices Act, for instance, prohibits misleading charitable solicitations "made from a location"

outside of this State to persons located in this State." NRS 598.1305(4)(b) (emphasis added).

Given the ubiquity of recording interstate phone calls in modern business, as well as the potentially serious affront to comity and due process of displacing a sister state's regulation of domestic business practices and of subjecting a sister state's residents to unanticipated "gotcha" liability in a far-away forum, the Court should not construe NRS 200.620 to apply extraterritorially to actions that were lawful where they occurred. The Court should instead insist any such extension of Nevada law be based on an explicit statement of extraterritorial intent by the legislature. Because NRS 200.620 contains no such expression of intent currently, basic notions of fairness and due process dictate that, at a minimum, any judicial extension of NRS 200.620 be applied prospectively only.

ARGUMENT

I.

THIS COURT SHOULD ANSWER "NO" TO THE PRINCIPAL CERTIFIED QUESTION

In prior cases, this Court has determined NRS 200.620 applies to recording of private phone calls among individuals located in Nevada

using equipment located in Nevada, and that the statute generally prohibits individuals from recording such calls absent the consent of all parties to the call. *Mclellan v. State*, 124 Nev. at 267 & n.5, 182 P.3d at 109 & n.5, *citing Lane v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 114 Nev. 1176, 1179–80, 969 P.2d 938, 940 (1998) (plurality). *Mclellan* also made clear NRS 200.620 does not apply to recording an interstate telephone call involving a person in Nevada when the act of recording occurs outside of the State. 124 Nev. at 267–68, 182 P.3d at 109–10.

In *Mclellan*, a party located in California taped a telephone conversation she had with a Nevada resident, using equipment located in California. The Court held the taped conversation was admissible in Nevada courts because the recording was legal in the jurisdiction where it occurred. Significantly, *Mclellan* did not consider the California-based recording of a call with a person in Nevada to itself violate NRS 200.620. Rather, the Court was clear the recording of a call with a person in Nevada would only violate Nevada law "had the *interception* taken place in Nevada." *Mclellan*, 124 Nev. at 267, 182 P.3d at 109 (emphasis added).

This case turns on whether *Mclellan* means what it says—that NRS 200.620 applies only territorially to calls recorded inside Nevada—or whether, despite *Mclellan*, the statute applies extraterritorially to calls with a person in Nevada that are recorded on equipment located outside Nevada.

Mclellan's focus on the location of the "interception"—and its conclusion that an "interception" does not run afoul of NRS 200.620 unless it occurs within the territorial borders of Nevada—was correct and should be reaffirmed. Such a construction of NRS 200.620 follows from the longstanding canon that, unless a contrary intent is made clear, laws are presumed to apply only within the enacting state's boundaries. It also follows from the rule of lenity and the canon of constitutional avoidance, both of which instruct courts to avoid inferring extraterritorial effects from ambiguous language. And it is the only construction faithful to the language, history, and traditional understanding of the limited reach of two-party consent laws still on the books in a minority of states.

Because there is nothing indicating the legislature intended to project Nevada's unusually restrictive call-recording law onto the conduct of parties in other states, the Court should hold NRS 200.620 imposes only a territorial rule and does not apply to customer service calls legally recorded in Arizona and Minnesota on equipment located in those states.

A. The Court Should Not Assume The Legislature, By Its Silence, Intended To Reach Recordings Made Outside Nevada

This case raises a question of statutory interpretation: whether NRS 200.620 reaches conduct—the "interception" of a phone call—occurring, not in Nevada, but within the confines of a sister state. Even assuming Nevada has the authority under the U.S. Constitution to criminalize routine business practices most other states expressly permit (which, as Judge Navarro found, presents "serious" questions), "whether [the legislature] has in fact exercised that authority . . . is a matter of statutory construction." *E.E.O.C. v. Arabian Am. Oil Co.*, 499 U.S. 244, 248 (1991) (hereafter "*Aramco*"). In such a case, the analysis begins with the well-established presumption against extraterritoriality.

1. Unless there is an affirmative indication otherwise, NRS 200.620 is presumptively limited to conduct within Nevada

"It is a longstanding principle of American law that legislation of Congress, unless a contrary intent appears, is meant to apply only within the territorial jurisdiction of the United States." *Morrison v. Nat'l Australia Bank*, 561 U.S. 247, 255 (2010) (internal quotation and citation omitted); *see also Sandberg v. McDonald*, 248 U.S. 185, 195 (1918) ("Legislation is presumptively territorial and confined to limits over which the law-making power has jurisdiction."); *see generally* SCALIA & GARNER, READING LAW 268–72 (2012) (Canon No. 43).

The presumption is routinely applied to state legislation. See, e.g., Risinger v. SOC LLC, 936 F. Supp. 2d 1235, 1250 (D. Nev. 2013) (applying "the general presumption against the extraterritoriality" to Nevada Wage and Hour Law); Abel v. Planning & Zoning Comm'n, 998 A.2d 1149, 1157 (Conn. 2010) (applying presumption "when application of the statute would regulate out-of-state conduct or property"); Avery v. State Farm Mutual Auto. Ins. Co., 835 N.E.2d 801, 852 (Ill. 2005) (noting "long-standing rule of construction in Illinois which holds that a 'statute is without extraterritorial effect unless a clear intent in this

respect appears from the express provisions of the statute"); *Union Underwear Co., Inc. v. Barnhart*, 50 S.W.3d 188, 190 (Ky. 2001) ("We begin our analysis with the well-established presumption against extraterritorial operation of statutes. That is, unless a contrary intent appears within the language of the statute, we presume that the statute is meant to apply only within the territorial boundaries of the Commonwealth.").

The extraterritoriality canon "rests on the perception that [a legislature] ordinarily legislates with respect to domestic, not foreign matters." *Morrison*, 561 U.S. at 255. It also "serves to protect against unintended clashes" with laws of other jurisdictions which could result in "discord." *Aramco*, 499 U.S. at 248; *see also Union Underwear*, 50 S.W.3d at 190 (noting purpose of canon is "to protect against unintended clashes of the laws of the Commonwealth with the laws of our sister states"). And the incidental connection with someone in Nevada whose call is recorded elsewhere does not alter the analysis. The "presumption against extraterritorial application would be a craven watchdog indeed if it retreated to its kennel whenever some domestic activity is involved in the case." *Morrison*, 561 U.S. at 266.

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