#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Ditech Financial, LLC f/k/a Green Tree Serv Dec 23 2016 10:25 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Appellant,

vs.

Sanford Buckles, on behalf of himself and others similarly situated,

Respondent.

#### **CERTIFIED QUESTION**

from the United States District Court, District of Nevada Case No. 2:15-cv-01581-GMN-CWH

#### **Respondent's Answering Brief**

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

First, any decision in criminal law would not "be determinative" of the Federal case.

The Supreme Court may answer questions of law certified to it by the Supreme Court of the United States, a Court of Appeals of the United States or of the District of Columbia, a United States District Court, or a United States Bankruptcy Court when requested by the certifying court, if there are involved in any proceeding before those courts questions of law of this state <u>which may be determinative of the cause</u> <u>then pending in the certifying court</u> and as to which it appears to the certifying court there is no controlling precedent in the decisions of the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals of this state. NRAP 5(a) (emphasis added); e.g., Weinstein v. Fox (In re Fox), 302 P.3d 1137, 1139 (Nev. 2013) ("[I]n determining whether to exercise its discretion to consider certified questions, this court looks to whether the answers may 'be determinative' of part of the federal case, there is no controlling Nevada precedent, and the answer will help settle important questions of law.") (quotation marks and brackets omitted); see generally Volvo Cars of N. Am., Inc. v. Ricci, 122 Nev. 746, 137 P.3d 1161 (discussing NRAP 5(a) at length and declining to answer the certified question because "it would not 'be determinative' of any part of the Here, this Court specifically accepted the Certified Question case"). because the "answers may determine the federal case"—a civil action. See Order Accepting Certified Questions, Jun. 24, 2016; see also Certification Order, dated May 25, 2016, p. 2. Therefore, this Court should refrain from deciding NRS 200.620's application in criminal cases since such a determination would not "be determinative" of the Federal case.

Second, this Court should decline to rule on any hypothetical criminal cases. This Court has consistently declined to consider issues on a hypothetical basis. *E.g.*, *Leventhal v. Black & LoBello*, 305 P.3d 907, 910 n.6 (Nev. 2013) (question of whether a division of property in a

divorce case is an affirmative recovery to which a lien may attach was not fairly presented, and "we decline to examine it on a hypothetical basis."); *Resnick*, 104 Nev. at 66, 752 P.2d at 233 (finding appellant's "argument is based on a purely hypothetical premise that we decline to consider" since appellant had not yet, in fact, been deprived of property or liberty). Buckles brought this case to challenge Ditech's actions in a civil context only. This Court to should decline to determine hypothetical criminal law issues.

Third, any criminal law related issues raised by Ditech and in NACDL's amicus brief are not in controversy. "[L]itigated matters must present an existing controversy, not merely the prospect of a future problem." *E.g., Leavitt v. Siems*, 330 P.3d 1, 3 n.1 (Nev. 2014) (quoting *Elley v. Stephens*, 104 Nev. 413, 416, 760 P.2d 768, 770 (1988) (appellants lacked standing to challenge statute's constitutionality in absence of any personally suffered injury)) (quotation marks omitted); *Kahn v. Dodds (In re AMERCO Derivative Litig.)*, 127 Nev. 196, 213, 252 P.3d 681, 694 (2011) ("Nevada has a long history of requiring an actual justiciable controversy as a predicate to judicial relief.") (citing *Doe v. Bryan*, 102 Nev. 523, 525, 728 P.2d 443, 444 (1986) ("[L]itigated matters must present an existing controversy, not merely the prospect of a

future problem.")); see also Kress v. Corey, 65 Nev. 1, 189 P.2d 352 (1948) (recognizing that a declaration may be unavailable when the damage "is merely apprehended or feared"). Buckles' civil action does not raise any issues relating to criminal law and this Court does not need to determine any criminal law "not in controversy" in deciding this case.

Lastly, this Court should refrain from determining any unnecessary constitutional issues.

This court has a 'long history of requiring an actual justiciable controversy as a predicate to judicial relief.' In cases for declaratory relief and where constitutional matters arise, this court has required plaintiffs to meet increased jurisdictional standing requirements.

Stockmeier, 122 Nev. at 393, 135 P.3d at 225-26 (citations omitted).

It is not necessary to determine any constitutional issues regarding NRS 200.620's application to criminal law. "[A] constitutional question will not be determined unless clearly involved, and a decision thereon is necessary to a determination of the case." *Plunkett*, 62 Nev. at 270-71, 149 P.2d at 104 (citing *State ex rel. Adams v. Allen*, 55 Nev. 346, 347, 34 P.2d 1074, 1075 (1934)); *see also Gebers v. State*, 118 Nev. 500, 506 n.11, 50 P.3d 1092, 1095 (2002) ("[T]his court will not consider constitutional issues which are not necessary to the determination of an appeal.") (quoting *Hollis v. State*, 96 Nev. 207, 210, 606 P.2d 534, 536 (1980)); Spears v. Spears, 95 Nev. 416, 417, 596 P.2d 210, 211 (1979) (A reviewing court is "not authorized to enter into a determination of the constitutionality of a statute on a supposed or hypothetical case which might arise thereunder."). Again, this case is a civil action. Constitutional issues involving the statute's application to criminal law are not at issue and, of course, are not "necessary to a determination of the case."

#### 2. The Rule of Lenity does not apply in this civil action

As this is a civil case, the Rule of Lenity does not apply. The rule requires strict construction of a criminal statute to ensure that individuals have proper notice of conduct which is deemed criminal. See generally State v. Webster, 102 Nev. 450, 455, 726 P.2d 831, 834 (1986) (declining to apply the rule where there was no "potential for arbitrary law enforcement"). Furthermore, the legislature's allowance of punitive damages in civil cases does not automatically create a criminal or quasicriminal nexus. See, e.g., State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 306 P.3d 369, 382 (Nev. 2013) (applying a two-part test to determine whether a given statute imposes a "punishment"); accord Orr Ditch & Water Co. v. Justice Court of Reno Twp., 64 Nev. 138, 163, 178 P.2d 558, 570 (1947) (construing strictly a mining-safety statute that provided for a "penalty" and "fine"). Thus, because this is a civil action, the rule does not apply.

The Rule of Lenity does not apply merely because the statute creating civil liability also imposes criminal punishment. See, e.g., State v. Wheeler, 23 Nev. 143, 148, 44 P. 430, 430 (1896) ("It has sometimes been said that revenue laws are not penal, but however that may be with statutes imposing taxes generally, which are to be collected by the means ordinarily resorted to for the collection of taxes, any statute which imposes pecuniary penalty, fine, and imprisonment for a failure to pay the tax, shall certainly be classed as a penal statute, and subject to a strict construction."). As seen in Wheeler, this analysis must be made in the context as applied. Here, although NRS 200.690 both imposes criminal punishment and civil liability, before this Court is NRS 200.620's application in civil cases only.

Furthermore, there is no ambiguity in applying Nevada law in this case, as discussed above at length under Nevada's choice-of-law analysis. *State v. Lucero*, 127 Nev. 92, 99, 249 P.3d 1226, 1230 (2011) ("Because ambiguity is the cornerstone of the rule of lenity, the rule only applies when other statutory interpretation methods, including the plain language, legislative history, reason, and public policy, have failed to resolve a penal statute's ambiguity."). Still, this is not a criminal case

so the rule of lenity does not apply.

In sum, this Court should refrain from deciding criminal law issues and not apply the Rule of Lenity to this civil action.

### C. Application of NRS 200.620 in this case is Constitutional

Application of NRS 200.620 to Ditech, a large company that routinely and secretly recorded telephone conversations with people in Nevada is constitutional because (1) does not violate the Due Process clause, (2) does not violate the Commerce Clause and (3) does not raise any constitutional doubt.

# 1. NRS 200.620, as applied in this case, would not violation

## the Due Process Clause

In applying NRS 200.620 to Ditech's actions here, the federal due process clause would not be violated. Significantly, the arguments raised by Ditech were analyzed and rejected in *Kearney*:

> [C]ontrary to SSB's strenuous argument, the application of California law in the setting of this case clearly would not exceed the constitutional limits imposed by the federal due process clause on a state's legislative jurisdiction, by seeking to impose California law on activities conducted outside of California as to which California has no legitimate or sufficient state interest. The present legal proceedings are based upon defendant business entity's alleged policy and practice of recording telephone calls of *California* clients, while the clients are *in California*, without the clients'

knowledge or consent. California clearly has an interest—in protecting the privacy of telephone conversations of California residents while they are in California—sufficient to permit this state, as a constitutional matter, to exercise legislative jurisdiction over such activity.

*Kearney*, 39 Cal. 4th at 104, 45 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 737, 137 P.3d at 920 (emphases in original; citations omitted). Application of Nevada law would be limited to the defendant's surreptitious recording of conversations over the telephone by Nevada residents while they were in Nevada. *Id.* "This is a traditional setting in which a state may act to protect the interests of its own residents while in their home state." *Id.* (citing *Watson v. Employers Liability Corp.*, 348 U.S. 66, 72, 99 L. Ed. 74, 75 S. Ct. 166 (1954) ("[T])his Court has in a series of cases held that more states than one may seize hold of local activities which are part of multistate transactions and may regulate to protect interests of its own people, even though other phases of the same transactions might justify regulatory legislation in other states")).

*Kearney* and *Watson* and the "series of cases" involving multistate transactions should be followed, as opposed to the cases relied on by Ditech, dealing with transactions wholly outside of the forum jurisdiction. *See Bmw*, 517 U.S. at 573, 116 S. Ct. at 1597 (a State "does

not have the power . . . to punish [a defendant] for conduct that was lawful where it occurred and that had no impact on [the State] or its residents"); Avery, 216 Ill. 2d at 187, 296 Ill. Dec. at 501, 835 N.E.2d at 854 (the "overwhelming majority of circumstances" occurred outside the state); State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Campbell, 538 U.S. 408, 427, 123 S. Ct. 1513, 1525 (2003) (the plaintiffs' "inability to direct us to testimony demonstrating harm to the people of Utah . . . indicates that the adverse effect on the State's general population was in fact minor"); Hendricks v. Ford Motor Co., No. 4:12cv71, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 139293, at \*15 (E.D. Tex. Sep. 27, 2012) ("In Campbell, however, fundamental to the Supreme Court's decision was that fact that the outof-state conduct bore no relation to the plaintiff's harm."); accord Crouch v. Teledyne Cont'l Motors, Inc., No. 10-00072-KD-N, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 44002, at \*16 (S.D. Ala. Apr. 21, 2011) ("even if [the defendant] did not conduct any activity in Kentucky there is still a 'sufficient nexus' ... between its alleged out-of-state conduct and the harm which came to Here, NRS 200.620 should be applied to protect peoples' Plaintiffs."). privacy in Nevada and it therefore does not violate the Due Process Application of Nevada law in this case is therefore Clause. constitutional.

# 2. NRS 200.620, as applied in this case, would also not violation the Commerce Clause

Furthermore, application of NRS 200.620 in this case does not Ditech's suggestion that application of violate the Commerce Clause. NRS 200.620 in this case would violate the Commerce Clause was similarly rejected in *Kearney*, and for good reason. As *Kearney* correctly found, the facts presented did not occur "wholly outside of [California's] borders." Kearney, 39 Cal. 4th at 106-07, 45 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 739, 137 P. 3d at 922 (distinguishing Healy v. Beer Inst., 491 U.S. 324, 336, 109 S. Ct. 2491, 2499 (1989) (finding statute violative of the commerce clause because of the inevitable effect that the statute would have on the prices charged by the entity in its sales to residents in other states)). Here, application of the Nevada law would affect only a business' undisclosed recording of telephone conversations with consumers in Nevada and would not compel any action or conduct of the business with regard to conversations with non-Nevada consumers. See Kearney, 39 Cal. 4th at 107, 45 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 739, 137 P.3d at 922. Accordingly, the application of NRS 200.620 in this case does not violate the Commerce Clause.

For these reasons, the cases relied on by Ditech are inapplicable since applying NRS 200.60 in this case would not compel any action or conduct with regard to conversations with non-Nevada consumers. The *Healy* case relied on by Ditech is inapplicable since the occurrences here did not take place "wholly outside [Nevada's] borders." Healy, 491 U.S. at 336, 109 S. Ct. at 2499; Kearney, 137 P.3d at 739. Similarly, Edgar v. MITE Corp. does not apply since that case involved a statute that "directly regulates transactions which take place across state lines, even if wholly outside the State of Illinois." 457 U.S. 624, 641, 102 S. Ct. 2629, 2640 (1982). Thus, as in *Kearney*, applying NRS 200.620 in this case would not affect any action or conduct with regard to conversations with non-Nevada consumers and, therefore, does not violate the Commerce Clause.

# 3. NRS 200.620, as applied in this case, does not raise constitutional doubt

In holding that NRS 200.620 applies here, this Court does not need to construe NRS 200.620 in any way to avoid unconstitutionality. The cases relied on by Ditech involving constitutional vagueness are therefore distinguishable and not applicable here. *Accord Ford v. State*, 127 Nev. 608, 619, 262 P.3d 1123, 1130 (2011) (finding in criminal prostitution case where differing constructions could be applied to a statute, "that construction should be adopted which will save the statute"); Mangarella v. State, 117 Nev. 130, 136, 17 P.3d 989, 993 (2001) (interpreting statute "as allowing a valid assertion of the privilege against self-incrimination"); State v. Castaneda, 126 Nev. 478, 483, 245 P.3d 550, 554 (2010) (in criminal case, interpreting NRS 201.220(1) so it "is not unconstitutionally vague"); see also Rust v. Sullivan, 500 U.S. 173, 183, 111 S. Ct. 1759, 1767 (1991) (in case involving a criminal abortion law, "[t]he fact that [the regulations] might operate unconstitutionally under some conceivable set of circumstances is insufficient to render [them] wholly invalid"). NRS 200.620 is a wellestablished all-party consent statute. Ditech knowingly reached into Nevada and recorded telephone conversations with people in Nevada, caused harm to people in Nevada and effectively acted within Nevada. The statute at issue is not unconstitutionally vague.

Therefore, application of NRS 200.620 to Ditech's actions, in routinely and secretly recording telephone conversations with people in Nevada, is constitutional.

# D. Should this Court rule that NRS 200.620 applies in this case, the ruling should be retroactive

Should this Court rule that NRS 200.620 applies in this case, the ruling should be given retroactive effect because (1) this Court should apply the general rule of retroactive effect of rulings in civil cases, (2) Ditech fails to meet the standard for applying a ruling prospectively, and (3) applying the ruling retroactively complies with due process. As an initial matter, however, this Court should not consider this issue in the first instance since Ditech raises this issue now for the first time.

# 1. The issue raised by Ditech for the first time should not be considered

This Court should decline to consider whether its ruling will be applied retroactively because Ditech did not "raise [the] issue in the district court." *E.g., Edelstein v. Bank of N.Y. Mellon*, 286 P.3d 249, 261 (Nev. 2012) (citing *Kahn*, 127 Nev. at 217 n.6, 252 P.3d at 697) (declining to consider issue not raised in the district court). This Court has a long tradition of declining to consider issued not briefed in the trial court. *See Id*.

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